**FILED
Court of Appeals
Division I
State of Washington
3/7/2018 1:59 PM**

Court of Appeals No. 76143-9-I

IN THE SUPREME COURT
OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

Supreme Court No. 95608-1

THE KROGER CO., an Ohio corporation; FRED MEYER STORES,
INC., doing business as QUALITY FOOD CENTERS, INC. (aka QFC),

Appellant,

v.

SUE JIN YI, an individual; and RONALD COX, an individual, on behalf
of themselves and others similarly situated,

Respondent.

**QUALITY FOOD CENTERS' PETITION
FOR SUPREME COURT REVIEW**

Francis L. Van Dusen, Jr., WSB No. 13669
Megan L. Starich, WSB No. 47520
Alyson Palmer, WSB No. 46916
MILLER NASH GRAHAM & DUNN LLP
Pier 70
2801 Alaskan Way, Suite 300

I. IDENTITY OF PETITIONER AND INTRODUCTION

Petitioner Fred Meyer Stores, Inc. dba Quality Food Centers ("QFC") seeks review of a Court of Appeals decision attached as Appendix A ("App. at ___").

This case raises an important issue of first impression regarding a plaintiff's ability to convert, through artful pleading, a contract interpretation issue regarding calculation of the amount of wages owed under a collective bargaining agreement ("CBA") into a statutory issue by seeking to recover CBA wages under RCW 49.52.050(2), Washington's Wage Recovery Act ("WRA"), thereby avoiding arbitration.

Plaintiff alleges that QFC's practice of rounding all hourly store employees time to the quarter hour resulted in his clocked time being rounded down depriving him of both statutory and CBA wages. In his amended class action complaint, Plaintiff Ronald Cox sought to recover statutory overtime and minimum wage damages for violation of both the Washington and Oregon Minimum Wage Acts ("MWA") and separately CBA wages for QFC's alleged incorrect calculation of the number of compensable hours worked at CBA hourly rates during the first 40 hours of each work week.

Without citing to any state or federal case authority and contrary to a Ninth Circuit case holding that CBA disputes regarding the "amount of wages" owed under the Oregon WRA are not statutory claims, the panel held that Plaintiff's contract claims regarding the amount of wages owed are

statutory claims, not subject to the CBA arbitration clauses. Compare App. at 6-7 with *Kobold v. Good Samaritan Regional Medical Center*, 832 F.3d 1024, 1035 (9th Cir. 2016).

The court's holding would allow employees with a CBA claim regarding the amount of his/her wages to file suit under the Washington WRA and bypass both the employee's union and an otherwise valid arbitration clause, contrary to Washington case law applying federal labor law.

QFC petitions for review of the decision under RAP 13.4(b)(4).

II. DECISION OF THE COURT OF APPEALS

QFC seeks review of the Division I decision published on February 5, 2018, upholding the trial court's 2016 order denying QFC's motion to compel arbitration. App. 1-16.

III. ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. Did the appellate panel err in a decision of first impression in Washington by holding that an employee can avoid arbitration of his CBA claim regarding the amount of wages owed, by seeking recovery of the CBA wages under RCW 49.52.050(2), the WRA provision allowing recovery of the contract "wage such employer shall pay?"

1. Did the appellate court err by apparently assuming that the Washington WRA imposed state statutory standards for the calculation of rounded time as hours worked for purposes of determining CBA wages, when Department of Labor and Industries' ("L&I") issued its

guidance on rounded time under RCW 49.46.040 and .070, Washington MWA, and RCW 49.12.050, the Industrial Welfare Act, not under the Washington WRA? Policy Number ES.D.1 Recordkeeping and Access to Payroll Records, rev. 5/7/2004 ("Guidance").

2. Does federal labor law, as well as the Federal Arbitration Act, 9 U.S.C. §§ 1-9, determine the arbitrability of CBA claims?

B. Did the trial court err in disregarding Ninth Circuit law holding the Oregon WRA and by analogy the Washington WRA "provide only that an employee be paid the wages 'due and owing them.' Or. Rev. Stat. § 652.120(1)"? *Kobold*, 832 F.3d at 1035.

C. Does the panel decision deprive the Union of participation in the arbitration/grievance process, thereby preventing the Union from representing other bargaining unit members who are adversely affected by Plaintiff's interpretation of clocked time rather than rounded time as compensable under the CBAs with QFC?

IV. STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. FACTUAL BACKGROUND

1. Defendant/Appellant QFC.

Defendant/Appellant QFC operates approximately 65 Washington and Oregon grocery stores employing approximately 6,000 hourly store employees. CP 1408-09. Twenty CBAs determine the hourly rates and compensable time used to calculate QFC store employee hourly wages.

CP 557. Although the International Brotherhood of Teamsters and the Bakery, Confectionary, Tobacco, and Grain Millers International unions have negotiated wages for some store employees, United Food and Commercial Workers' Local 555 ("UFCW") represented Plaintiff and all other QFC grocery workers in QFC's Portland and Clark County stores. CP 1-13, 557.

Fred Meyer Stores, Inc., purchased QFC in 1998 and installed a single time clock in all stores, typically in the lunch rooms many of which are on the second floor above the grocery sale floors. CP 293-95, 556-558, CP 1110. After the 2000 time clock installation, QFC rounded employee time to the quarter hour, providing a "grace period" for employees who showed up less than 7½ minutes late or left less than 7½ minutes early.¹ CP 556-57. Plaintiff and other hourly employees signed acknowledgements regarding the "seven-minute grace period which rounds the eighth minute to the quarter hour." CP 561.

Based on QFC time data during Plaintiff's employment from 2011 to 2014, store employee time was rounded down by an average of 18.36 seconds per employee swipe of the time clock, according to QFC's expert. CP 1128. Plaintiff's expert did not contradict this calculation, but calculated the average amount of cumulative time rounded down for those employees whose card swipes showed a net amount of time rounded down.

¹ For example, if an employee clocked in at 1:59 for a 2:00 shift, her time would be rounded down by one minute. Likewise, if she clocked out at 8:55 for a shift that was scheduled to end at 9:00, her time was rounded up by five minutes.

CP 1304-05. She stated that the average total rounded-down time for those store employees with net rounded down time was 12.2-12.4 hours from 2011 through 2014. *Id.* She did not calculate an average for QFC employees whose net rounded clocked time was rounded up for purposes of calculating the amount of CBA wages. CP 1302-06.

2. Plaintiff Ronald Cox.

Plaintiff/Respondent Cox worked as a grocery clerk at QFC's Camas, Washington, store and then at its Moreland store in Portland from October 2011 until he resigned in February of 2014. CP 557. He testified that he clocked in at the break room time clock and then walked to his workstation. CP 1097, 1103. He testified it took him a minute to walk from the time clock to his Camas workstation in Washington and less than a minute to walk from the time clock on the second floor break room to his workstation in Portland. CP 1103, 1110.

Plaintiff's hourly pay rate and compensable time were subject to the UFCW's separate CBAs for its Clark County and Portland QFC store employees. CP 557-58.

3. UFCW 555 CBAs With QFC.

The CBAs address compensable time and hours worked in Articles 4 (Hours of Work), 5 (Seniority), 6 (Wage Scale), 13 (General Conditions), and 17 (Free work Prohibition). CP 568-93 (Portland CBA); CP 616-37 (Clark County CBA). CBA provisions relevant to the

compensability of travel time from clock to workstation at the start of each shift and back to the clock at the end of each shift include the following:

5.9 No Guarantee – No Pay for time Not Worked.

Nothing in this article shall be construed to require pay for time not worked.

6.9 Wage Claims. All claims for back wages must be presented through the Union . . .

13.8 Travel Between Stores. Time spent by employees in travel from place to place during the work day in order to perform work assigned to them by the employer shall be paid for as time worked.

17. Free Work Prohibition.

17.1 The Employer agrees that there shall not be "free" or "time off the clock" work under this Agreement.

CP 573, 575, 585, 593 (Portland CBA); 621, 623, 632, 637 (Clark County CBA).

Although the CBA does not contain sections titled compensability of "rounded time" or travel time from the time clock to the workstation, the parties' bargaining history and past practice provide for the compensability of rounded time rather than clocked time. CP 557-58. Moreover, all QFC policies are subject to Union review under provisions in the CBAs. CP 603, 642.

An arbitrator resolves CBA disputes regarding interpretation of what time is compensable, including the minute or less that Plaintiff testified that

he spent walking between the time clock and his workstation. CP 594-96, 638-39.

19. Grievance Administration Procedures.

19.1 Any Grievance or dispute concerning the application or interpretation of this Agreement shall be presented in writing by the agreed Party to the other Party with . . .

19.3 Jurisdiction and Authority.

a. The jurisdiction and authority of the Arbitrator shall be confined exclusively to the application or interpretation of a specific provision or provisions of the Agreement between the Parties. The Arbitrator may consider the entire Agreement in making his or her award.

CP 594-96, 638-39.

4. "Time Not Worked."

The parties disagree whether the travel time that Plaintiff spent walking between the time clock and his work station at the Camas store and the "less than one minute" that he spent walking between the second-floor time clock and his first-floor workstation in the Portland store was "time not worked" under the CBA and thus, not compensable. CBA §§ 5.7, 5.9 (CP 573; CP 621), *cf.* CP 1007-1039, 1140-67 (parties' briefs on QFC's summary judgment regarding compensability of travel time between time clocks and work stations under the Washington and Oregon minimum wage acts).

5. Hourly Rates.

Although Plaintiff claimed \$12/hour as his CBA hourly rate for calculating wages for rounded down time in his December 2014 interrogatory answer (CP 349, 350), the Court of Appeals accepted his representation in his 2017 appeal brief that he's no longer seeking "damages calculated using any premium rates or shift premiums provided in any collective bargaining agreements." App. at 6 (quoting Respondent's brief at 5). Although the Court of Appeals accepted Plaintiff's recanting of his interrogatory answer, Plaintiff has not withdrawn his attorney's 2015 representation that he is seeking CBA wage rates above the state minimum wages for any minutes in the first 40 hours of each work week that were rounded down.

[W]e are asking the court to award the regular rate of pay. Not simply minimum wage or overtime wages, there will be times when you get a damage analysis for time worked is not overtime, but it is straight time and in that situation the amount awarded should be the regular rate of pay. . . .

Report of Proceedings ("RP") at 18-19. Plaintiff received \$12 per hour in Portland, a premium hourly rate above Oregon's minimum wage and above the CBA hourly pay rate for Plaintiff, whose 2,148.25 "apprentice" hours in 2013 set his rate on the scale. CBA rate. CP 601,667.

6. Employer Right to Deduct Overpayments under CBA.

The UFCW CBA also provides that QFC has the right to deduct overpayments from employee paychecks. CP 576.

6.13 Payroll Overpayments. When a payroll overpayment is discovered, the Employer is authorized to make

appropriate payroll corrections, including recovering the amount of overpayment in the form of a weekly payroll deduction.

Id.

QFC has never deducted pay from any employee whose time was rounded up overall, because the UFCW and QFC have always agreed that compensable time should be calculated based on rounded time, not clocked time, nor has Plaintiff or any other employee ever grieved the use of rounded time, as opposed to clocked time, to determine compensable hours. CP 557-58. Plaintiff's expert estimated that more than 3,000 of QFC's hourly employees who worked in QFC stores from July 2011 through 2014 had their time rounded up "on net due to the rounding system." CP 1303-04.

B. PROCEDURAL BACKGROUND

Plaintiff Cox filed in May of 2015 his amended complaint² in this putative class action of hourly QFC store employees, asserting four causes of action: violation of Washington and Oregon MWAs and violation of Washington and Oregon WRAs.

In September 2015, the trial court denied QFC's motion to dismiss Plaintiff's statutory MWA claims, rejecting QFC's argument that federal and Washington's regulatory guidances authorized facially-neutral rounding

² The claims of a second plaintiff, Ms. Yi, were dismissed with prejudice, and a fifth cause of action under Oregon Wage Penalty statute was dismissed as preempted by federal labor law. CP 495-497, 512-14.

policies that round time both up and down to the quarter hour at the start and end of each shift. CP 1339-40. In November 2016, the trial court denied QFC's motion to compel Plaintiff to arbitrate his CBA/WRA claims. CP 780-81.

QFC appealed the November 2016 order. CP 775-77.

The Court of Appeals affirmed the trial court's order denying QFC's arbitration motion on February 5, 2018. App. 1-16. The panel correctly identified the "core issue" for its decision. "The core issue is whether these claims are statutory or contractual." App. at 4.

V. ARGUMENT

A. **THE COURT OF APPEALS SHOULD HAVE ORDERED THE CBA WAGE CLAIMS ARBITRATED, BECAUSE IT FAILED TO FIND AN INDEPENDENT STATE INTEREST UNDER THE WRA OR A NONNEGOTIABLE RIGHT.**

1. Washington holds CBA claims should be arbitrated unless there is a nonnegotiable right or statutory claim imposing standards outside the CBA.

Applying federal labor law, Washington courts interpret CBA arbitration clauses more broadly than arbitration clauses in commercial disputes or individual employment contracts. "[T]he rules governing interpretation of an arbitration clause in a collective bargaining agreement differ from those applicable to commercial contracts." *Meat Cutters v. Rosauers Supermarkets*, 29 Wn. App. 150, 154, 627 P.2d 1330 (1981).

"An order to arbitrate the particular grievance should not be denied unless it may be said with *positive assurance* that the arbitration clause is not susceptible of an interpretation that

covers the asserted dispute. *Doubts should be resolved in favor of coverage.*"

Id. at 155 (quoting *United Steelworkers v. Warrior & Gulf Navigation Company*, 363 U.S. 574, 583 (1960) (emphasis added by the Washington Court of Appeals)).

The Washington courts, however, will not order an employee's claim to arbitration, if the source of the employee right asserted arises not out of the CBA, but out of state common law or a statute. *Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Srvs., Inc.*, 109 Wn. App. 347, 358, 35 P.3d 389 (2001). In *Brundridge*, the Court of Appeals specifically held that a state "claim of wrongful termination in violation of public policy implicates a non-negotiable right." *Id.* "[T]he pipefitters claim for wrongful discharge of public policy does not require interpretation of or application of any term in the agreement." *Id.* at 356; *accord, Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corporation*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 93 P.3d 108 (overtime claim under MWA involves nonnegotiable state right).

In this case, however, Mr. Cox is seeking CBA wages, using an hourly rate above the minimum wage. That hourly rate is available under the CBA only during the first 40 hours of each workweek. In order to calculate the amount of Cox's CBA wages, the arbitrator will also have to determine if QFC is correct that time rounded up or down is "time not worked" under CBA Sections 5.7 (Clark County) and 5.9 (Portland), and related CBA provisions governing compensability of clocked versus

rounded time. CP 573, 621. *Cf. Ervin v. Columbia Distributing*, 84 Wn. App. 882, 888, 930 P.2d 947 (1997) (contract-based claim barred but statutory claims under MWA involve nonnegotiable right).

Mr. Cox is asserting a CBA right to wages, using hourly rates above the minimum wage for rounded down time during the first 40 hours of each work week, not a statutory or common law right. "A state law claim is independent if it does not rely on a right created by a CBA." *Hill v. Garda CL Northwest, Inc.*, 198 Wn. App. 326, 350, 394 P.3d 390 (2017) (citing *Commodore v. Univ. Mech. Contractors, Inc.*, 120 Wn.2d 120, 839 P.2d 314 (1992), and holding payment for rest breaks is a statutory claim).

The Court of Appeals did not identify a nonnegotiable or independent state right under the WRA for CBA hourly wages, above the minimum wage, or for clocked time that is rounded down during the first 40 hours of each work week. Both the hourly wage and definition of compensable time are determined solely by the CBA, not the WRA.

2. Neither the legislature nor L&I established wage rates or state standards for compensable hours under the WRA.

The WRA provides for recovery of wages payable under "any statutes, ordinance or contract" Cox's causes of action for minimum wages and overtime under the MWAs are statutory claims involving rights that are nonnegotiable and do not arise out of the CBA. *Huntley v. Frito-Lay*, 96 Wn. App. 398, 979 P.2d 488 (1999) (MWA overtime is nonnegotiable statutory right).

L&I has issued a Guidance addressing "Time Clocks and Rounding Practices." W&I, Administrative Policy No. ES.D. 1, "Recordkeeping and Access to Payroll Records" revised 5/7/2004 ("Guidance"). The Guidance specifically references the MWA and Industrial Welfare Act as both authority for the Guidance and as the statutes to which the Guidance should be applied. Guidance at 1. L&I is authorized to issue this Guidance for recordkeeping purposes "to safeguard the minimum wage." RCW 49.46.040(4). L&I also relied on the Industrial Wage Act's recordkeeping mandate as a statutory basis for the rounding Guidance. RCW 49.12.050.

The Guidance makes no reference to RCW 49.52.050(2) or any other WRA section as authority for the Guidance. The Guidance is "intended as a guide in the interpretation and application of the relevant statutes, regulations and policies" but references only the MWA and Industrial Welfare Act as relevant statutes. Guidance at 1. L&I has not issued any guidance or regulations to interpret the amount of "contract" wages under RCW 49.52.050(2).

The WRA merely allows for collection of attorney fees and double damages if wages under "statutes, ordinance or contract" are willfully withheld by the employer and classifies such withholding as a misdemeanor. RCW 49.52.050. Plaintiff has to show under the MWA that QFC failed to pay statutory overtime or minimum, before he can assert a WRA claim for statutory wages. Similarly, Plaintiff must prove that QFC

failed to calculate his CBA wages correctly to state a WRA claim for "contract" wages.

The panel understandably found no Washington law to support converting a CBA claim into a statutory claim by pleading a WRA claim. This is an issue of first impression. Does the WRA provide a nonnegotiable or independent state law right to use clocked rather than rounded time for the calculation of the CBA "wage such employer is obligated to pay" under RCW 49.52.050(2)? The Court of Appeals gave no supporting authority from other jurisdictions and specifically ignored Ninth Circuit case law holding Oregon's WRA does "not provide any means with which to assess which wages are 'due and owing.'" *Kobold*, 832 F.3d at 1035.

Rather than applying federal labor law to the arbitration issue, the panel relied on commercial arbitration agreements that the Court of Appeals and U.S. Supreme Court have previously held should not be used to interpret CBAs. *Meat Cutters*, 29 Wn. App. at 154. "[T]he hostility evinced by courts toward arbitration of commercial disputes has no place here." *Warrior*, 363 U.S. at 578. Other than *Brundridge*, the Court of Appeals only cited Washington cases involving commercial and consumer disputes and one individual employment agreement in its discussion of the arbitrability of Plaintiff's CBA/WRA claim. *Otis Housing Ass'n, Inc. v. Ha*, 165 Wn.2d 582, 586, 201 P.3d 309 (2009) (arbitration clause in lease with purchase option); *Adler v. Fred Lind Manor*, 153 Wn.2d 331, 103 P.3d 773 (2004) (interpreting individual employment contract with arbitration

clause); *Syrovoy v. Alpine Res.*, 122 Wn.2d 544, 859 P.2d 51 (1993) (arbitration clause in logging contract); *Schuster v. Prestige Senior Mgmt., LLC*, 193 Wn. App. 616, 376 P.3d 412 (2016) (arbitration clause in contract for assisted living services); *Wiese v. Cach, LLC*, 189 Wn. App. 466, 358 P.3d 1212 (2015) (arbitration clause in consumer class action).

3. Federal law labor law, as well as the Federal Arbitration Act, controls interpretation of CBAs.

The court held that the Federal Arbitration Act ("FAA"), not federal labor law, "generally" should be applied to interpret the CBA's arbitration clause. App. at 14. The court relied on *Brundridge* and a case involving an individual employment agreement. See App. at 7 fn.14, citing *Adler v. Fred Lind Manor*, 153 Wn.2d 331, 1031 P.3d 773 (2004). "FAA is applicable to the CBA in the present case." App. at 7 quoting *Brundridge*, 101 Wn. App. at 355.

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