FILED SUPREME COURT STATE OF WASHINGTON 4/6/2018 4:06 PM BY SUSAN L. CARLSON CLERK

SUPREME COURT NO. 95608-1

IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF WASHINGTON

THE KROGER CO., an Ohio corporation; FRED MEYER STORES, INC., doing business as QUALITY FOOD CENTERS, INC. (aka QFC)

Appellant,

v.

SUE JIN YI, an individual; and RONALD COX, an individual on behalf of themselves and others similarly situated,

Respondent.

RESPONDENT'S ANSWER TO PETITION FOR REVIEW

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

ARGUMENT WHY REVIEW SHOULD BE DENIED

The Court should deny review because (1) QFC's arguments are all premised on the notion that Respondent's claims are contractual, and because Respondent's claims are plainly statutory, those arguments fail; (2) QFC's arguments all fail for additional, independent reasons; and (3) the case does not present issues of "substantial public interest."

A. The Court Should Deny Review Because the Panel Correctly Found Respondent's Claims Were Statutory

As QFC concedes, the central issue before the Court of Appeals was whether Respondent's WRA claims were statutory or contractual. App. at 4 ("the core issue . . . is whether these claims are statutory or contractual"); Pet. at 10 ("the panel correctly identified the 'core issue' for its decision"). QFC's current Petition makes five arguments for review. Pet. at 10, 12, 15, 16, 17. Each of those arguments rests on the fundamentally flawed premise that Respondent's claims are contractual in nature. Because the Panel correctly determined that Respondent's claims are statutory, QFC's arguments all fail and the Court should deny the Petition.

QFC argues that Respondent's WRA claim is contractual, and therefore subject to the CBA's arbitration clause, because Respondent seeks daily overtime and various shift premiums that are only provided for by the CBA.¹ App. at 6; Pet. at 8; AB at 3, 9-10, 19, 20, 23-26, 28-32, 34-35, & 37. Respondent does not, and has never sought, those pay rates as damages. Respondent offered to stipulate that his WRA damages would not be calculated using any of the CBA rates QFC identified. App. at 6; CP 1412-1424. Respondent's brief below represented repeatedly that Respondent did not seek, and had never sought, CBA premium pay, and the Panel relied in part on this representation in affirming the trial court. App. at 7.²

As below, QFC's Petition here offers no actual evidence (or sensible argument) to support a contrary finding. The only "evidence" QFC cites to support its theory that Respondent is actually seeking more

¹ As QFC concedes, its appeal does not affect Respondent's claims for minimum wage or statutory overtime, or Respondent's claims for double those damages pursuant to the WRA. QFC appeals <u>only</u> the issue of whether Respondent can recover premium pay under the CBA. ² QFC's suggestion that Respondent has "recanted" a prior claim to premium pay damages is simply inaccurate.

than minimum wage, weekly overtime, and double those damages, is a series of inferences it draws from an isolated interrogatory response and a stray comment from counsel before the trial court. Pet. 8.

The Panel was right to dismiss those inferences in assessing whether Respondent seeks CBA premium pay. App 7. The Panel had no reason to credit QFC's inferences because Respondent has made it clear that he <u>does not seek any premium pay</u> on his WRA claim. QFC gives the Court here no reason to depart from the Panel's finding.

As if Respondent's proposed stipulation were not enough to forever resolve the issue of what pay rates he seeks, his repeated representations before the Court of Appeals that his WRA claim seeks only double his minimum wage and overtime damages is a binding judicial admission that cannot be controverted now. *Mukilteo Retirement Apartments, LLC v. Mukilteo Investors L.P.*, 176 Wn. App. 244, 255-56 n.8, 310 P.3d 814 (2013) ("facts judicially admitted are facts established not only beyond the need of evidence to prove them, *but beyond the power of evidence to controvert them*.") (internal citations and quotations omitted).

Because QFC can point to no actual evidence that Respondent seeks CBA pay, its petition devolves into circularity. QFC repeatedly states that *because* Respondent's claims are contractual, the Panel erred.

-8-

But QFC does nothing to explain *how* the Panel erred in finding the claims to be statutory. That is because QFC simply cannot. No matter how much QFC might wish Respondent sought more on his WRA claim than double his minimum wage and overtime damages, Respondent simply is not. QFC's petition should be denied for that reason alone.

B. QFC's Arguments Fail for Other Reasons

1. QFC Misstates the Legal Standard For Motions to Compel Arbitration Where CBAs are Involved

QFC argues that the Panel erred because "<u>CBA claims</u> should be arbitrated unless there is a non-negotiable right or statutory claim imposing standards outside the CBA." Pet. at 10. QFC's argument fails because it (a) misstates the applicable legal standard; and (b) Respondent's statutory wage claims <u>do</u> confer non-negotiable state rights.

First, QFC completely misstates the law governing arbitration clauses in CBAs. Courts construe arbitration clauses in collective bargaining agreements extremely narrowly. A court will only compel arbitration of statutory claims if the CBA contains an "explicit waiver" and it is "clear and unmistakable" that the parties intended to arbitrate the particular claim. *Wright v. Universal Mar. Serv. Corp.*, 525 U.S. 70 (1998); *accord Brundridge v. Fluor Federal Servs., Inc.*, 109 Wn. App. 347, 355-56, 35 P.3d 389 (2001). The Panel correctly applied this principle to Respondent's claims. App. at 8-10. It first determined that Respondent's claims were statutory, then did a detailed analysis of the CBA's text and found it was not "unmistakably clear" that the CBA waived the right to bring statutory wage claims. *Id.*

QFC, on the other hand, claims that the touchstone inquiry in deciding a motion to compel arbitration is whether the claim involves a "non-negotiable right." Pet. at 11-12. Whether a claim involves a non-negotiable state right is standard for determining whether a claim is preempted by the Labor Relations Management Act – not whether it is subject to CBA arbitration. Indeed, each case QFC cites for this argument considered whether a claim was preempted by the LMRA, *not* whether the court should grant a motion to compel arbitration.³

³ Brundridge v. Fluor Fed. Servs., Inc., 109 Wn. App. 347, 358, 35 P.3d 389 (2001) (cited by QFC at Pet. 11 and stating "the pipe-fitter's claim . . . is not preempted by federal law" because it involved a non-negotiable right and also refusing to compel arbitration under the FAA because CBA did not clearly and unmistakably waive claims); See, e.g., Hilse v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp., 151 Wn.2d 853, 93 P.3d 108 (2004) (LMRA does "not preempt nonnegotiable or independent negotiable claims" like MWA claims); Ervin v. Columbia Distributing, 84 Wn. App. 882, 930 P.2d 947 (1997) ("The policies of the National Labor Relations Act do not preempt Mr. Ervin's Minimum Wage Act claim"); Hill v Garda, 198 Wn. App. 326, 394 P.3d 390 (2017) ("the plaintiff's state right to meal periods is both independent and non-negotiable, and there is no section 301 preemption").

QFC lost its 2015 Preemption Motion. Its attempted 2016 appeal of that decision failed for procedural reasons. App. 10-13. QFC's current Petition does not dispute the Panel's conclusions regarding those procedural defects, and QFC cannot revive its substantive LMRA arguments now under the guise of this Petition for review regarding the 2016 motion to compel arbitration. As QFC argued below, and as the Panel concluded, whether a claim is preempted by the LMRA is a different substantive inquiry from whether a court should compel arbitration under the FAA. App. at 14 (noting that the 2015 preemption motion and the 2016 arbitration motion "sought different relief and required the court consider different bodies of law").

2. QFC's LMRA Argument Also Fails

Even if QFC could revive its LMRA arguments, those arguments would fail. "Preemption is the exception, not the rule in Washington" and "there is a strong presumption against finding preemption." *Hisle v. Todd Pacific Shipyards Corp.*, 151 Wn.2d 853, 93 P.3d 108, 114. As discussed, Respondent brings only statutory claims for minimum wage and overtime, and double those damages under the WRA. App. at 6. Washington courts have long held those claims confer substantive, non-negotiable rights independent of any CBA and are therefore not preempted. Fn. 3 *infra*.

-11-

Thus, even if QFC could renew its substantive LMRA arguments here, those arguments would fail.

3. Washington Law Amply Defines "Compensable Time" for Purposes of Respondent's Claims

QFC next argues that review is required because "neither the legislature nor L&I has established wage rates or state standards for compensable time under the WRA." Pet. at 12. As discussed, this argument fails because it presumes Respondent's WRA claim seeks something more than double his statutory minimum wage and overtime damages, and state law clearly addresses compensability and pay rate for minimum wage and overtime claims.

QFC concedes that the WRA allows recovery of double damages and attorneys' fees for willful failure to pay wages owed under statute, ordinance or contract. Pet. at 13. QFC further acknowledges that Respondent brings claims for minimum wage and overtime violations, and that Respondent can double his statutory damages under the WRA. Pet. 13. That is all Respondent seeks on his WRA claim – double damages for wages owed under the minimum wage and overtime statutes. Washington law robustly defines when such wages are owed. WAC 296-126-002(8) (defining "hours worked" for MWA claims"); *Stevens v. Brink's Home Security, Inc.*, 162 Wn.2d 42, 47-50, 169 P.3d 473 (2007) (applying WAC

-12-

296-126-002(8) to determine whether drive time was compensable for minimum wage and overtime purposes). So, too, does Washington law define how much Respondent may recover on those claims. RCW 49.46.020 (setting minimum wage); WAC 296-128-550 (defining overtime pay rate for hours worked in excess of 40 per week).

Because Respondent seeks nothing more than double his unpaid statutory wage damages on his WRA, it is irrelevant whether L&I has issued any guidance or regulations to interpret the amount of "contract" wages an employee might be entitled to under the WRA, as alleged by QFC. Pet. 13-15. It is similarly irrelevant whether the WRA permits an employee to recover CBA guaranteed premium pay.

4. The Panel Applied the Correct Body of Law in Finding Respondent's Claims were Not Arbitrable

QFC argues that the Panel should have ignored *Brundridge v*. *Fluor*, 109 Wn. App. 347, 35 P.3d 389 (2001), which holds that the FAA applies to an arbitration clauses in a CBA, and should have applied undefined "federal labor law" rather than the FAA. Pet. 15. According to QFC, "federal labor law," and not the FAA, governs because *Brundridge* was decided shortly after *Circuit City Stores, Inc. v. Adams*, 532 U.S. 105 (2001). This argument simply makes no sense. The Panel cited *Brunridge* for the uncontroversial proposition that a court will only compel arbitration of statutory claims if the CBA contains an "explicit waiver" and it is "clear and unmistakable" that the parties intended to arbitrate the particular claim. App. at 8. This has been the law with respect to all CBA arbitration clauses since at least 1998. *See Wright v. Universal Mar. Serv. Corp.*, 525 U.S. 70 (1998) (so holding). Both *Brundridge* and *Circuit City* and the legal principles for which they stand remain good law. That *Brundridge* was decided shortly after *Circuit City* is no reason to ignore its holding. The Panel correctly applied controlling law.

5. *Kobold* Is Irrelevant

QFC claims that the panel erred when it ignored *Kobold v. Good Samaritan Reg. Med. Ctr.*, 832 F.3d 1024 (9th Cir. 2016), which QFC describes as "analogous Ninth Circuit authority" directly applicable to the Oregon WRA. Pet. 16. *Kobold* is not germane. It dealt with three consolidated cases and analyzed whether the LMRA preempted the plaintiffs' various claims. *Kobold*, 832 F.3d at 1031. The case did <u>not</u> involve any motions to compel arbitration, or whether a CBA contained a clear and unmistakable waiver of a right to a judicial forum. Because QFC does not seek review of the Panel's ruling on its 2015 preemption motion, *Kobold* is not relevant. The specifics of *Kobold* do not help QFC anyway. There, the court determined that the plaintiff's Oregon WRA claim was preempted because it would require extensive analysis of the terms of the CBA. The plaintiff referred to in the passage quoted by QFC (at Pet. 16) had sued in state court to recover premium pay rates, which the CBA provided to nurses "for all hours worked above their regularly scheduled full-time equivalent shifts 'except when there is a change of schedule agreed upon by the Medical Center and nurse." *Kobold*, 832 F.3d at 1036. The court logically concluded that such a claim was preempted by the LMRA because it would require extensive analysis of the terms of the CBA, including whether particular shifts were "extra shifts" and whether there had been an agreed change of schedule. *Id*.

Thus, in *Kobold*, whether Plaintiff was owed money depended entirely on whether the employer violated the CBA. Here, whether the Respondent is owed money on his WRA claim depends on whether QFC violated the MWA by failing to pay Respondent the minimum wage or overtime for all compensable hours worked. Washington statutory and common law defines whether the time rounded away was compensable, and if so, at what rate QFC must compensate it. The Panel was right to ignore *Kobold*.

-15-

6. The Panel's Ruling Does Not Affect the Rights of Union Members Who Benefitted From Rounding

Finally, QFC argues that the Panel's ruling somehow places the rights of the few employees who benefited from rounding "at risk of setoff without allowing the union to participate or represent all QFC's hourly employees." Pet. 17. This argument fails at the outset because QFC's set-off claim is legal vaporware. Respondent filed this case in 2014, yet QFC has never actually brought any set-off claim against the few union members who benefitted from rounding.

If QFC were to actually bring this theoretical claim, it would face serious substantive hurdles. QFC cites no case to support its novel theory that its knowing use of a flawed rounding policy gives rise to claims against the few employees who benefited from that policy. So, too, would it face serious procedural hurdles. If QFC has any claim, it is a compulsory counterclaim that is almost certainly now barred by QFC's failure to bring it. CR 13(a) ("[a] pleading shall state as a counterclaim any claim which at the time of serving the pleading the pleader has against any opposing party, if it arises out of the transaction or occurrence that is the subject matter of the opposing party's claim"). This alleged "set-off" is all bark and no bite. But even if QFC could assert this hypothetical claim, the union could seek to participate under CR 24, which governs intervention rights. If the trial court allows CR 24 intervention, QFC's concerns are unfounded. If the trial court finds the union has no right to intervene, QFC's concerns are still unfounded because the union had no rights for the Panel to deprive it of anyway. In sum, *that* the union has a right to seek intervention refutes QFC's argument.

C. QFC Fails to Address—Much Less Meet—RAP 13.4's Criteria For Review

The Court should deny QFC's Petition for one final reason—QFC fails to address how this case meets RAP 13.4's high standard for review. "The Supreme Court, in passing upon a petition for review, is not operating as a court of error, but rather is functioning as the highest policy-making judicial body of the state"; thus, "RAP 13.4(b) does not allow review simply to correct isolated instances of injustice." WASHINGTON APPELLATE PRACTICE DESKBOOK § 27.11, at 27-10 (WSBA 3rd Ed. & 2011 Suppl.).

Here, QFC mentions in passing that review is appropriate pursuant to RAP 13.4(b)(4), which applies only where the petition involves "an issue of substantial public interest that should be determined by the Supreme Court." RAP 13.4(b)(4); Pet. 4. Generally, review is appropriate under RAP 13.4(b)(4) where the legal issues have significant effect beyond the litigation. *See, e.g., In Re Arnold*, 189 Wn.2d 1023, 1092, 408 P.3d 1091 (2017) ("the likely incorrect holdings . . . affect public safety by removing an entire class of sex offenders from the registration requirements"). QFC utterly fails to explain how this case meets that standard. That is because it cannot.

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